4-1-2006

The Joint Archives Quarterly, Volume 16.01: Spring 2006

Geoffrey D. Reynolds
Hope College

Follow this and additional works at: http://digitalcommons.hope.edu/jaquarterly

Part of the Archival Science Commons

Recommended Citation

http://digitalcommons.hope.edu/jaquarterly/59

Published in: Joint Archives Quarterly, Volume 16, Issue 1, Spring April 1, 2006. Copyright © 2006 Hope College, Holland, Michigan.

This Newsletter is brought to you for free and open access by the College Publications at Digital Commons @ Hope College. It has been accepted for inclusion in The Joint Archives Quarterly by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ Hope College. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@hope.edu.
Now Appearing in Downtown Holland:  
The History of the Knickerbocker Theatre

by Geoffrey D. Reynolds

What do an elephant, Blackstone the Magician, and Franklin Delano Roosevelt have in common? They’ve all appeared at the Knickerbocker Theatre in downtown Holland. Built in 1911, the Knickerbocker, located at 86 East 8th Street, has hosted a great number of events—from vaudeville acts in the 1920s and 1930s to rock concerts in the 1980s. In the early days, dancers, orchestras, elephants, magicians and Chatauqua plays all graced its stage. While serving as Secretary of the Navy, Franklin D. Roosevelt even gave a speech there.

The Knickerbocker, as it was named and carved upon its face to this day, was reportedly built for $30,000 by local businessmen Tieman Slagh and Arend Smith. It was the fifth building along the south side of East 8th Street to be built by Slagh. “Holland’s New Playhouse Whose Name Stands for the Very Best Among Dutch People,” read the headline above the photograph of the Knickerbocker Theatre in December 23, 1910, local newspaper. It was followed by a large paragraph describing the theatre as one of the important building improvements for that year “for the welfare of the city and the people in general,” even as the workmen continued to prepare it for an early 1911 opening date. This new three-story building, made of brick and stone, replaced one that had burned years before at an unknown location.

The name Knickerbocker translates to the “best in life” and was used by author Washington Irving in his writing. True to its meaning, the owners of the Knickerbocker offered what they thought was the best in entertainment for the Holland community. It was reported to have 1,000 seats, with a perfect view of the stage in every one of those seats. The responsibility of bringing entertainment to the venue for the first year was to be shouldered by a committee made up of members of the Board of Trade, an earlier version of today’s Chamber of Commerce. Whether this ever took place is up to speculation.

(continued on page 2)
In September 1911, the theatre was leased to Charles E. New and John C. Agnew of Evanston, Illinois, by the Michigan Trust Company, the administrator of the Slagh estate. Evidently, this change in ownership took place because Smith and the widow Slagh could not continue to hold ownership in it. The new renters promised that they would offer the “right kind of shows that will elevate the taste and offer clean, wholesome amusement to the population of the city.” Once again, in October, the Board of Trade put up the money to buy out the theatre for its opening performance of the Brewsters Millions Company, scheduled for November 3. This time the theatre did open, and without tragedy. Unfortunately, the renters could not make the new theatre profitable and, by November 1913, the theatre was once again under new management, but still owned by the Michigan Trust Company. The new manager, J. W. Himbaugh, took over the theatre and was the one responsible for introducing moving pictures, known as “talkies,” and a better heating plant. Theatrical shows were also shown, but only sporadically.

Two years later, in 1915, the theatre was again under new management, but the owner remained the Michigan Trust Company. This time New Yorker A. Berlin promised that he would bring entertainment that Hollanders had been asking for, and he did with the very first show, The Christian. Unfortunately, even the first play did not save him, as he had decided to keep the theatre open every day, including Sundays. This did not sit well with the people of Holland and soon the theatre was closed. In 1916, the bank decided to end its ownership of the theatre and attempted to sell the theatre property and the homestead of Tieman Slagh’s living widow, Alice, to the highest bidder. It did not sell until much later.

In November 1917, the theatre once again saw activity under the new management of Frank G. Ogden, who also served
as the renter. He promised to return to stage shows of old only and had the place refitted and redecorated for his customers. One of his promised plays was *The Price She Paid*, a drama, and new plays were presented every two days for a paltry 15 and 25 cents, depending on the seat you chose. Ogden also reintroduced movies to the venue that starred actors like Jack Pickford and Douglas Fairbanks. It also appears that Ogden closed the theatre during the summer months of 1918, but opened again in September for more vaudeville acts. Unfortunately, the worldwide flu epidemic of 1918 forced all theatre owners, churches, and gathering places in the city to close their doors until the sickness left town. But with the exit of the flu that fall also went another manager. The factory owners were the most upset when the theatre closed since it was the only amusement that they could promise laborers who came to Holland to work.

In February 1920, a push was on by local boosters to purchase the theatre from the Michigan Trust Company for $15,000. But public ownership was not in the making and the Trust eventually leased the building to the Regent Theater Company of Grand Rapids. Their intention was to show movies. Under their tenure, they made improvements that included a new pipe organ, upholstered seats, and proper ventilation. Local man “Vaudie” Vanden Berg, Jr. was placed in charge as manager. In October 1920, Secretary of the Navy, Franklin D. Roosevelt, paid a visit to its stage and proved to be a highlight for this theatre’s lackluster past. But soon, motion pictures took over as the entertainment of the day—and night.

Three years later, in March 1923, the building lease changed again, this time to a Mr. Buis, a local upholsterer and mattress manufacturer. Under his management, the theatre continued to show two new movies per week, host plays, political speakers, and vaudeville, as well as high class music and dancing acts. The building’s name was changed to the New Holland Theater. On December 24, the theater opened with *The Courtship of Miles Standish*. By March 1924, Buis filed for bankruptcy after spending $8,000 on renovations. The young theatre was sold to the Carley Amusement Company in 1926, and some years later, the building, by now the Holland Theater, became part of the gigantic Butterfield chain of theaters.

Little is know about the theatre from that time until 1949, when improvements in the form of an addition to the front were made under the Holland Theater name. Eventually, electronic home entertainment, such as television and videocassette recorders (VCRs), as well as multiscreen cinemas, took their toll on downtown theatres. The Knickerbocker’s sister theatres, the Park and the Strand, soon went out of business. Butterfield Theaters owned the theatre up until 1985, when it was purchased by Goodrich Theaters. Goodrich spent $300,000 on renovations before selling the 355-seat venue to Hope College in 1988 for just under $200,000, as part of the Riverview Development Project.

After the theatre was donated to the college to serve as a multi-purpose facility, it was given a new life under the management of Phil Tanis, a 1987 Hope graduate and former Holland city councilman and mayor, who became the theatre manager in early 1988. Tanis began the film series we enjoy today. Reka Jellema followed him in 1990, when she oversaw a $75,000 renovation of the front of the building to look like the 100 East 8th Street building, which was also owned by Hope College.

Today, the Knickerbocker plays a major role in Hope College’s cultural offerings through lectures, art films, concerts, assemblies for students, faculty and staff, and a variety of musical and stage performances throughout the year, under the capable leadership of its current manager, Erik Alberg.
Holland’s East 8th Street business district before the construction of the Knickerbocker
Mr. and Mrs. Edmund Anderson
Mrs. Grace Antoon
Mrs. Barbara Archer
Dr. John Arendshorst
Mr. Charles Aschbrenner
Mr. Dan Baldwin
Mr. and Mrs. Chester L. Baumann
Mr. and Mrs. Gerald A. Bax
Mr. Arthur J.S. Bielfelt
Mr. and Mrs. Adrian Blauwkamp
Mr. and Mrs. John A. Blom
Dr. and Mrs. Vernon L. Boersma
Ms. Brenda E. Bos
Mr. and Mrs. Thomas G. Bos
Ms. Pauline Bosch
Mr. and Mrs. Vern Boss
Mrs. Jean Brace
Bradford Company
Mr. and Mrs. Judson T. Bradford
Mr. and Mrs. Gordon M. Brewer
Mr. and Mrs. Donald A. Brinks
Mrs. Marjorie J. Miller Brinks
Dr. and Mrs. Donald J. Bruggink
Dr. and Mrs. Elton J. Bruins
Ms. Penney E. Buhler
Mr. Harvey J. Buter
Mrs. Ekadal J. Buys
Mr. and Mrs. Richard L. Chambers
Dr. and Mrs. James K. Chamness
Ms. Deborah Che
Ms. Betty D. Cook
Mr. Gerald Cooper
Mr. LaVerne C. Dalman
Mr. and Mrs. Ronald L. Dalman
Mr. and Mrs. Robert L. De Bruin
Mr. and Mrs. Roger DeGraaf
Ms. Karel Deich
Mr. and Mrs. Roger L. De Vries
Mr. and Mrs. William J. De Vries
Mrs. Winnifred M. Dreeuws
Mr. Daniel S. Driesenga
Mr. and Mrs. Chester Dykema
Greg and Amanda Dykhouse
Mr. and Mrs. Robert J. Dykstra
Mr. and Mrs. Paul Elzinga
Mr. and Mrs. James Evenhuis
Mr. and Mrs. Mike Griffin
Mr. Benno Groeneveld
Dr. Norman C. Gysbers
Mr. and Mrs. Louis Hallacy II
Rev. and Mrs. Eugene Heideman
Dr. and Mrs. I. John Hesselink
Ms. Jean Hoffmeyer
Mr. and Mrs. Terry Hofmeyer
Mrs. Jenifer S. Holman
Mr. Glenn Homkes
Mr. and Mrs. Lester Hoogland
Ms. Helene A. Howe
Ms. Phyllis M. Huff
Mr. Ben Huizinga
Mr. and Mrs. Vincent L. Iannelli
Mr. and Mrs. Norman Japinga
Mrs. Yvonne Jonker
Mr. Ted Jungblut, Jr.
Mr. Ken Katerberg
Mrs. Lois Jesiek Kayes
Dr. and Mrs. Roger D. Kempers
Dr. and Mrs. Earl Wm. Kennedy
Mr. and Mrs. Martin Klaver
Mr. Michael Kollen
Mr. and Mrs. Larry Koops
Mr. Frank Kraai
Mr. and Mrs. Eldon R. Kramer
Mr. Robert D. Kroeeze
Ms. Ruth E. Kronemeyer
Rev. and Mrs. James C. Lont
Rev. Dr. and Mrs. Gary J. Looman
Mr. and Mrs. Michael Lozoon
Dr. and Mrs. Robert C. Mahaney
Mr. Robert H. Manning
Mr. Gerald Meyer
Mr. and Mrs. Burton Moeko
Mr. and Mrs. Dale Moes
Mr. Max R. Murphy
Muskegon Railroad Historical Society
Mrs. Carolyn Nienhuis
Mr. and Mrs. Daniel Paul
Dr. Rhonda Pennings
Mr. Theodore J. Peters
Mr. and Mrs. Joel Ploegstra
Ms. Mary Raper
Mr. and Mrs. Jerrald H. Redeker
Mr. and Mrs. Craig Rich
Ms. G. Schalekamp
Dr. Eugene Scholten
Mr. Don Sinnema
Mr. and Mrs. John E. Smallegan
Mr. and Mrs. Jack W. Smith
Rev. Henry A. Stegenga
Ms. Tamara A. Stilwell
Mr. H. Rodger Stroop
Dr. Robert P. Swierenenga
Mr. and Mrs. Peter Sytsma
Mr. and Mrs. Donald Sytsma
Mr. William Sytsma
Mrs. Leona Terpsma
Ms. Barbara Timmer
Mr. and Mrs. James E. Townsend
Mr. and Mrs. Paul M. Trap
Mr. and Mrs. Myron D. Van Ark
Mr. and Mrs. Gerard Vanden Bosch
Mr. Hugo M. Van den Dool
Dr. C. Warren Vander Hill
Mr. and Mrs. Tom Vander Kuy
Mr. and Mrs. Jay R. Vander Meulen
Dr. Arend A. Vander Pols
Mr. and Mrs. Terry VandeWater
Mr. William G. Van Dyke
Dr. F. Phillip Van Eyl
Mrs. Caryl J. Van Houten
Mr. Julius Van Oss
Mr. and Mrs. Howard Van Raalte
Mr. and Mrs. Bruce van Voorst
Drs. Gordon and Margaret Van Wylen
Mr. William Vogelzang
Mr. and Mrs. David H. Voorhees
Mrs. Dorothy Voss
Mr. and Mrs. Ron Voss
Mrs. Evelyn Vukin
Mr. Frank L. Wagenaar
Will and Lisa Walker
Dr. and Mrs. Douglas J. Walvoord
Mr. and Mrs. James Watt
Dr. and Mrs. Kenneth J. Weller
Dr. and Mrs. Ron Wiegerink
Mr. John K. Winter
Mr. and Mrs. Henry I. Witte
Mr. and Mrs. Rusty Witte
Mr. and Mrs. Richard Zingle